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DECISION


RMC, Inc., d/b/a Ready Mix Concrete, (“RMC”) violated 49 CFR § 382.301 and violated § 307.400
 twice by its violations of 49 CFR § 390.35(a).

Procedure


On May 4, 2005, the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (“the MHTC”) filed a complaint.  On January 4, 2006, we held a hearing.  Assistant Counsel Kim S. Burton represented the MHTC.  Joseph R. Borich III represented RMC.  The last briefs were due on April 6, 2006.
Findings of Fact


1.
RMC is a corporation whose place of business is in Kansas City, Missouri.  RMC’s business is hauling wet concrete in concrete mixer trucks to its customers in Missouri and Kansas.    


2.
RMC operates as a motor carrier with the United States Department of Transportation (“DOT”) # 00516887.

3.
In 2003 and 2004, Deanna Daniels was the president of RMC.   Jacklen Mattivi was the secretary/treasurer.  

4.
In 2003 and 2004, RMC employed Mattivi as the sole person in charge of RMC’s office.  Mattivi was the only officer or employee responsible for: 
· knowing the rules and regulations regarding compliance with DOT and MHTC drug and alcohol testing requirements; 

· handling the truck drivers’ (“drivers”) records of duty status, time sheets, and other paperwork relating to safety compliance; 
· making certain that the drivers underwent their pre-employment drug screening tests; 
· maintaining the records relating to the tests; and 
· handling the MHTC’s reviews to confirm compliance with those rules and regulations.


5.
RMC hired the following as cement mixer truck drivers on the dates listed:  
Name


Date Hired
Rodney Miller


March 15

Kyle Glover


March 18

Perry Walker


April 5

Monte Clark


May 3

6.
RMC owned a 1979 International cement mixer truck, equipment number 715.  It had a gross weight rating of 54,000 pounds.  On May 27, Monte Clark drove this truck for RMC to deliver a load of wet concrete to Sam Anderson in the state of Kansas.  


7.
RMC did not contract with an outside business to perform pre-employment drug testing on its truck drivers during 2004
 until June 23 when RMC contacted D.R.A.G.N.E.T. Able On-Site Narcotics Detection and Consortium Services (“D.R.A.G.N.E.T. “) to enroll for pre-employment and random alcohol and drug substances testing.  

8.
D.R.A.G.N.E.T. arranges with motor carrier employers for the performance of DOT drug and alcohol testing on motor carrier drivers and arranges for the test results to be faxed to the employer.  

9.
D.R.A.G.N.E.T. used ChoicePoint Medical Review Service (“ChoicePoint”) of Los Angeles, California, to test the urine specimens.  ChoicePoint’s practice was to fax the results to the employer on its letterhead.  

10.
Monte Clark gave a sample of his urine on June 23 for testing.  ChoicePoint tested the urine sample on June 24.  It tested negative for controlled substances.  ChoicePoint faxed the test results to RMC on June 25, in a document that looked substantially like this:
  

ChoicePoint

ChoicePoint Medical Review Services

5900 Wilshire Blvd. Suite 2200

Los Angeles, CA 900036

Tel: 800-521-8791 Fax: 615-781-2397

Controlled Substance Test Report

Attn:
Charles Gay


Client Name:  DRAGNET/Corporate On-Site

2507 S. 42nd Street

Account Number: 139620-00000


Kansas City, KS 66106

Phone: 
913-362-8378

Donor Name:  Monte Clark

Other ID:

Donor ID: [social security number]

Emp. Category:  UNKOWN
Test Result:  Negative/Pass

Specimen ID:  32908172


Test Reason:  Pre-Employment

Specimen Date:  6/23/2004 10:45:00 AM
Test Type:  DOT

Lab Name:  Labone, Inc.


Lab Account #:  070A

Testing Panel:  Nida Panel

Test Account #:  139620-00000

CCF Received:  6/24/2004

Test Client Name:  DRAGNET /Corporate On-Site

Verification Date:  6/24/2004

Location ID:

First Report Date: 6/24/2004  7:16:25 AM
Cost Center:  

11.
In June, MHTC’s senior transportation enforcement investigator, James Justin Cunningham, arranged with Mattivi to begin a compliance review on RMC.  
12.
Mattivi informed Deanna Daniels of the up-coming compliance review.  Mattivi assured Daniels that all the paperwork was in order.
13.
On June 29, Mattivi met with Cunningham at his office.  Among other things, Cunningham reviewed the requirements of pre-employment and random drug and alcohol screening for drivers.  Mattivi said that she had hired four new drivers in the past year.  Mattivi said that in April or May, RMC had contracted with D.R.A.G.N.E.T. to do pre-employment and random drug and alcohol screenings.  
14.
Mattivi showed four documents to Cunningham, purporting to be controlled substance test reports (“test reports”), one each for RMC drivers Miller, Walker, Clark, and Grover.  The top half of each report was identical in form to the ChoicePoint controlled substance test report on Monte Clark set out in Finding 10.  
15.
A solid line divided the top and bottom half of each report.  The bottom half of each report had the following format:
  

TEST RESULT: NEGATIVE/PASS
TEST REASON:
       PRE-EMPLOYMENT FOR RMC, INC.
TEST TYPE:

       DOT
SPECIMEN DATE:


LAB NAME:

       JANT/BY RMC, INC.
VERIFICATION DATE:  


16.
The specimen and verification dates were filled in as March 11 for Miller, March 18 for Glover, April 1 for Walker, and April 27 for Clark.  
17.
After the meeting, Cunningham called Charles Gay to verify the information shown on the test reports because Gay’s name and telephone number were on the top half of each report.  Gay was the CEO and owner of D.R.A.G.N.E.T.  Gay indicated that D.R.A.G.N.E.T. had no contact with RMC before June 23.  Gay said that RMC joined their consortium on June 23.  On that date, D.R.A.G.N.E.T. took pre-employment drug and alcohol specimens from RMC’s drivers, including Monty Clark.
18.
Later in the day of June 29, Cunningham informed Mattivi that the information he received from D.R.A.G.N.E.T. was different from what was on the drug screening test reports that she had shown him during their meeting.  At first, she claimed that D.R.A.G.N.E.T. must be mistaken about when it did the testing.  Cunningham called D.R.A.G.N.E.T. back and verified that the first tests D.R.A.G.N.E.T. did were on June 23.  Cunningham informed Mattivi of this.  
Finally, Mattivi admitted that she showed Cunningham falsified test reports so as to avoid getting RMC into trouble.

19.
Cunningham demanded that Mattivi fax to him the test reports that she had shown him earlier on June 29.  Mattivi agreed to, but later refused upon advice of counsel.  Finally, on June 30, Mattivi faxed to Cunningham the pre-employment test report on Monte Clark from ChoicePoint, set out in Finding 10.
  
20.
Also on June 30,  Mattivi faxed four other test reports purporting to show pre-employment screening for Miller, Glover, Walker, and Clark from JANT Pharmacal Corporation.
  The bottom half of each was identical to the bottom half of the test reports described in Findings 15 and 16, but the top half was different.  A prototype of the four test reports follows:  

JANT
PHARMACAL CORPORATION

ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE TEST REPORT

DONOR NAME: 

DONOR ID:



EMP. CATEGORY:
DRIVER
TEST RESULT: NEGATIVE/PASS
TEST REASON:
       PRE-EMPLOYMENT FOR RMC, INC.
TEST TYPE:

       DOT
SPECIMEN DATE:


LAB NAME:

       JANT/BY RMC, INC.
VERIFICATION DATE:  
Each had the name and donor identification number of one of the drivers – Miller, Glover, Walker, or Clark – along with the corresponding specimen and verification dates as set forth in Finding 16.
21.
Cunningham concluded that each of the four test reports purporting to be from ChoicePoint that Mattivi had shown him at the June 29 meeting had actually been a composite made by combining the top half of the ChoicePoint test report faxed to him on June 30 (Ex. H) and the bottom of each of the JANT test reports on Miller, Glover, Walker, and Clark (Exs. D, E, F, and G). 
22.
Cunningham contacted the president of JANT.  Cunningham discovered that JANT did not do DOT drug testing and had never contracted with RMC to do drug testing on RMC’s employees.  Instead, JANT marketed kits for “onsite drugs of abuse tests.”  JANT offered confirmation services through Pacific Toxicology in Chatsworth, California.  The practice was for Pacific Toxicology, not JANT, to send the test results directly to the employer.  Pacific Toxicology did not have the social security numbers of Miller, Glover, Walker, and Clark in its system.  Pacific Toxicology never tested any urine specimens from RMC drivers.  
23.
JANT had not issued the four test reports for Miller, Glover, Walker, and Clark that Mattivi faxed to Cunningham on June 30.  Instead, Mattivi created those documents.  Mattivi had also created the test reports that she had shown to Cunningham on June 29.  
24.
Mattivi was acting within the scope of her authority as an officer and employee of RMC regarding her above-described conduct.
25.
The statements that Mattivi made on the bottom halves of the four JANT test reports that she faxed to Cunningham on June 30 were false in that the negative test results shown were not rendered by any laboratory, and the tests performed, if any, were not DOT tests.  Mattivi knew that the statements were false when she made them.  She knew that the test reports 
created the false impression that RMC had the specimens tested at a laboratory consistent with DOT requirements.  Mattivi created the test reports with the purpose of misleading any DOT inspector into believing that RMC had followed federal requirements for drug screenings.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.

  The burden is on MHTC to “show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the state highways and transportation commission is reasonable or lawful as the case may be.”

Evidentiary Rulings

The MHTC offered the records relating to RMC’s violations of federal controlled substance testing regulations from 2001.  RMC objected that they were irrelevant to proving the violations alleged in the instant complaint.  The MHTC offered the records because it contended that RMC’s opening statement had tried to portray itself as never having any prior violations.  RMC never followed up with evidence that tended to show a lack of prior violations.  We sustain the objection to Exhibit U because it is irrelevant.  We retain Exhibit U as an offer of proof.

RMC offered Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, which consisted of testing kits and materials with some containers appearing to have urine samples and names of drivers.  The MHTC objected for lack of foundation.  We ruled that we would consider the existence of what was found, but required a written description of the exhibit because we refused to take possession of the exhibit, especially in view of the fact that some of the containers appeared to be leaking their contents.  RMC has never provided the written description.  We deny admission of the exhibit.
The Complaint

The MHTC and its Department of Transportation have the authority to enforce the provisions of “Parts 350 through 399 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as those regulations have been and may periodically be amended, as they apply to motor vehicles and drivers operating in interstate or intrastate commerce within this state[.]”
  A motor vehicle is “any vehicle, truck, truck-tractor, trailer, or semitrailer, motor bus or any self-propelled vehicle used upon the highways of the state in the transportation of property or passengers[.]”
  There is no dispute, and we conclude, that RMC’s cement mixer trucks are motor vehicles regulated by Parts 350 to 399 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations.
Count I

The MHTC alleges in Count I:


11.  On or about May 27, 2004, Respondent violated 
§ 382.301(a) in that it authorized Monte Clark, Respondent’s employee, to drive a commercial motor vehicle, before Respondent received a  verified negative controlled substance test result for Mr. Clark.

Regulation 49 CFR §382.301 provides:

(a) Prior to the first time a driver performs safety-sensitive functions for an employer, the driver shall undergo testing for controlled substances as a condition prior to being used, unless the 

employer uses the exception in paragraph (b) of this section.  No employer shall allow a driver, who the employer intends to hire or use, to perform safety-sensitive functions unless the employer has received a controlled substances test result from the MRO or C/TPA indicating a verified negative test result for that driver.

RMC does not contend that the exception in paragraph (b) applies.
49 CFR § 382.107 provides definitions of the terms used in §382.301:
Commercial motor vehicle means a motor vehicle or combination of motor vehicles used in commerce to transport passengers or property if the vehicle--

*   *   *

(2) Has a gross vehicle weight rating of 11,794 or more kilograms (26,001 or more pounds); . . .
*   *   *
Consortium/Third party administrator (C/TPA) means a service agent that provides or coordinates one or more drug and/or alcohol testing services to DOT-regulated employers.  C/TPAs typically provide or coordinate the provision of a number of such services and perform administrative tasks concerning the operation of the employers’ drug and alcohol testing programs.  This term includes, but is not limited to, groups of employers who join together to administer, as a single entity, the DOT drug and alcohol testing programs of its members (e.g., having a combined random testing pool).  C/TPAs are not “employers” for purposes of this part.
*   *   *
Driver means any person who operates a commercial motor vehicle.  This includes, but is not limited to:  Full time, regularly employed drivers; casual, intermittent or occasional drivers; leased drivers and independent owner-operator contractors.
*   *   *
Safety-sensitive function means all time from the time a driver begins to work or is required to be in readiness to work until the time he/she is relieved from work and all responsibility for performing work. . . .
Regulation 49 CFR 40.3 defines an “MRO”:

Medical Review Officer (MRO).  A person who is a licensed physician and who is responsible for receiving and reviewing laboratory results generated by an employer's drug testing program and evaluating medical explanations for certain drug test results.
The truck that Monte Clark drove on May 27 was a “commercial motor vehicle” because it had a gross weight rating of 54,000 pounds.  Clark was a “driver” because he was the RMC employee who operated the truck.  His operation of the truck was a “safety-sensitive function.”  


RMC did not receive a verified negative controlled substance test result for Clark from a consortium/third party administrator or from a medical review officer until June 24.  That was after RMC authorized Clark to drive the truck on May 27.  

RMC does not deny that Mattivi failed to have Clark take a pre-employment controlled substances test.  RMC contends that Mattivi’s conduct cannot be imputed to RMC because Mattivi was engaged in much “criminal activity,” all out of the scope of her duties.  Kerr alleged in his testimony that Mattivi channeled RMC’s mail to a post office box that he knew nothing about so that he would not know what was going on.
  He alleged that Mattivi embezzled large sums by not paying suppliers and other creditors.  There was no other evidence presented to prove these allegations.
None of that, even if true, exculpates RMC from being responsible for Clark driving an RMC truck without having had pre-employment drug screening.  The undisputed testimony of both Mattivi and Kerr was that the corporation gave Mattivi, a corporate officer and employee,  the sole responsibility of seeing to it that RMC complied with federal and state drug safety regulations relating to RMC’s drivers.     


RMC’s defense ignores statutory and regulatory provisions placing the responsibility upon RMC for the actions of its officers and employees.


Section 622.480.3 provides:

In construing and enforcing the provisions of this chapter relating to penalties, the act, omission or failure of any officer, agent or employee of any carrier, corporation or person, acting within the scope of official duties of employment, shall in every case be and be deemed to be the act, omission or failure of such carrier, corporation or person.
Federal regulations have a similar provision regarding the controlled substance testing requirements.  49 CFR § 40.11 provides:

(a) As an employer, you are responsible for meeting all applicable 

requirements and procedures of this part.
(b) [As an employer] [y]ou are responsible for all actions of your officials, representatives, and agents (including service agents) in carrying out the requirements of the DOT agency regulations.
(Emphasis added.)

There is no dispute that Mattivi was not only an officer of RMC, but was the only officer or employee with the responsibility to ensure that RMC met the federal and state legal, safety, and recordkeeping requirements pertaining to controlled substances.  Her conduct in regard to the drivers and documents in this case was within the scope of her official duties.

RMC cites general propositions of Missouri case law regarding respondeat superior.  These cases do not apply.  State and federal law created the duties that the MHTC contends RMC violated.  The above-quoted statute and regulation are part of that regulatory framework.  They control the question of whether RMC is responsible for Mattivi’s conduct.  The regulation in particular makes RMC responsible for “all” the acts of Mattivi.  This is consistent with Missouri law that makes a corporation responsible for even the wrongful or malicious acts of its agents when done in the general scope of the agent’s authority.
  RMC is responsible for 
Mattivi’s actions, including her failure to have pre-employment drug screening for Clark before he drove a RMC cement mixer truck on May 27.

The MHTC has established that RMC violated 49 CFR § 382.301(a).

Count II

The MHTC alleges in Count II:


15.  On or about June 29, 2004, Respondent provided MoDOT enforcement inspectors with a controlled substance test report from JANT Pharmaceutical Corporation for Respondent’s employee, Rodney Miller, with a verification date of March 11, 2004.

16.  On or about June 29, 2004, Respondent provided MoDOT enforcement inspectors with a controlled substance test report from JANT Pharmaceutical Corporation for Respondent’s employee, Perry Don Walker, with a verification date of April 1, 2004.

17.  JANT Pharmaceutical Corporation indicated in a letter dated June 30, 2004 that it “did not issue the controlled substance test reports” on Respondent’s employees, Perry Don Walker and Rodney Miller.

18.  Respondent violated 49 CFR §390.35 and §307.400, RSMo, in that it provided falsified documents pertaining to the controlled substance testing of its employees Perry Don Walker and Rodney Miller.
Section 307.400 provides:


1.  It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle licensed for more than twelve thousand pounds either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in section 301.010, RSMo, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation. . . .
Section 301.010(7) defines “commercial motor vehicle” as:

a motor vehicle designed or regularly used for carrying freight and merchandise, or more than eight passengers but not including vanpools or shuttle buses[.]
RMC’s cement mixer trucks are commercial motor vehicles because they were designed to carry wet concrete as freight and were licensed for more than 12,000 pounds.  Therefore, § 307.400 requires RMC to meet the provisions of Part 390 of Title 49 CFR.

The MHTC charges RMC with violating 49 CFR § 390.35, which provides:

No motor carrier, its agents, officers, representatives, or employees shall make or cause to make—
(a) A fraudulent or intentionally false statement on any application, certificate, report, or record required by part 325 of subchapter A or this subchapter; ….

The MHTC must establish the following to prove a violation of 49 CFR § 390.35(a):


1.  RMC is a motor carrier;


2.  Mattivi is an agent, officer, representative, or employee of RMC;

3.  Federal regulations required RMC to have the controlled substance test reports for Miller and Walker; and  

4.  Mattivi made fraudulent or intentionally false statements on Miller’s and Walker’s test reports.

1.  RMC is a Motor Carrier
49 CFR § 390.5 defines motor carrier as:

Motor carrier means a for-hire motor carrier or a private motor 

carrier. The term includes a motor carrier's agents, officers and 

representatives as well as employees responsible for hiring, 

supervising, training, assigning, or dispatching of drivers and 

employees concerned with the installation, inspection, and maintenance of motor vehicle equipment and/or accessories. For purposes of subchapter B, this definition includes the terms employer, and exempt motor carrier.
[and defines a private motor carrier as:]
Private motor carrier means a person who provides transportation of property or passengers, by commercial motor vehicle, and is not a for-hire motor carrier.
RMC is a motor carrier because it provides transportation of wet concrete to the sites of contractors by commercial motor vehicle.  

2.  Mattivi is an Agent, Officer, Representative, or Employee of RMC
49 CFR §390.5 defines “employee” as:

Employee means any individual, other than an employer, who is 

employed by an employer and who in the course of his or her employment directly affects commercial motor vehicle safety. Such term includes a driver of a commercial motor vehicle (including an independent contractor while in the course of operating a commercial motor vehicle), a mechanic, and a freight handler.  Such term does not include an employee of the United States, any State, any political subdivision of a State, or any agency established under a compact between States and approved by the Congress of the United States who is acting within the 

course of such employment.
There is no dispute that Mattivi was an officer and employee of RMC.  She was the secretary/treasurer, and RMC employed her as the sole person in charge of and working in the office.
3.  Federal Regulations Required RMC to Have 
Controlled Substance Test Reports for Miller and Walker

The test reports for Miller and Walker were for pre-employment drug screens for drivers of commercial motor vehicles.  49 CFR § 382.401 requires:


(a) General requirement.  Each employer shall maintain records of its alcohol misuse and controlled substances use prevention programs as provided in this section.  The records shall be maintained in a secure location with controlled access.

(b) Period of retention.  Each employer shall maintain the records in accordance with the following schedule:
*   *   *

(3) One year.  Records of negative and canceled controlled substances test results (as defined in part 40 of this title) and alcohol test results with a concentration of less than 0.02 shall be maintained for a minimum of one year.

The test reports of Miller and Walker are documents that federal regulations require be maintained for one year.
4.  Mattivi Made Fraudulent or Intentionally False 
Statements on Miller’s and Walker’s Reports

The MHTC alleges in Count II that RMC provided falsified reports from “JANT Pharmaceutical Corporation” for Miller and Walker on June 29.  Some of the MHTC’s evidence tends to prove that Mattivi showed the JANT test reports to Cunningham on June 29 while other evidence that MHTC presented tends to show that the presentation was on June 30.  The evidence for the June 29 presentation consists of the “Carrier Official Statement” that Mattivi signed on July 16:

-On 06/29/04 RMC, Inc.’s Secretary/Treasurer Jacklen Mattivi presented a pre-employment test result from JANT Pharmacal Corporation located in Encino, California for driver Perry Don Walker showing a specimen date of 04/01/04 & a Negative/Pass result.  Driver Walker was then hired on 04/05/04.  This pre-employment test is in violation of 390.35 because Jacklen Mattivi falsified this document.  JANT Pharmacal Corporation President, Sam Elkin, showed no records of conducting any pre-employment tests for RMC, Inc. and Mr. Elkin stated they do not conduct DOT drug/alcohol tests.

-On 06/29/04 RMC, Inc.’s Secretary/Treasurer Jacklen Mattivi presented a pre-employment test result from JANT Pharmacal Corporation located in Encino, California for driver Rodney Miller showing a specimen date of 03/11/04 & a Negative/Pass result.  Driver Miller was then hired on 03/15/04.  This pre-employment test is in violation of 390.35 because Jacklen Mattivi falsified this document.  JANT Pharmacal Corporation President, Sam Elkin, showed no records of conducting any pre-employment tests for 
RMC, Inc. and Mr. Elkin stated they do not conduct DOT drug/alcohol tests.


However, Mattivi never admitted to this in her deposition.
  There, she admitted creating the reports,
 but denied that they were false
 and was noncommittal on whether she gave them to Cunningham.
   
However, other evidence from the MHTC tends to prove that the test reports she showed to Cunningham on June 29 were composite test reports she created with the top half from the ChoicePoint test report done on Clark and the bottom half identical to the JANT test reports that she faxed to Cunningham on June 30.  Cunningham testified that the Mattivi-created JANT test reports (Exs. D, E, F, and G) were not what he saw on June 29; rather, Mattivi had shown him four reports the top half of which were copied from ChoicePoint letterhead and the bottom of which were identical to the JANT test reports in Exhibits D, E, F, and G:
 

Q
Now, taking a look at Exhibits D, E, F, and G and comparing them to H, do they look familiar to you?

A.
Yes, they do.

Q
How is that?

A
The top part of Exhibit H and the bottom part of Exhibit G is the forms that I saw on June 29, 2004.

Q
You’re referring to the document that you had requested Ms. Mattivi to return to your office?

A
Yes, the pre-employment drug test, yes.

Q
Now, are you sure that it wasn’t this document [Exhibit H] that you saw on the 29th?

A
Yes, I’m positive.

Q
How are you so positive?

A
Because I documented D.R.A.G.N.E.T. information and Charlie Gay and his phone number from the top of the document on my notes.

Q
That’s not available on these exhibits?

A
There’s no phone number or contact person from JANT Pharmacal on Exhibit G, just the name of a company.

Q
And does this document refer in any way to Choice Point or to D.R.A.G.N.E.T.?

A
No, it does not.

Q
Now, are you sure that Exhibit H wasn’t the document that she provided to you on June 29?

A.
Yes, I’m positive.

Q
How are you so positive?

A
They look different.  As you notice, this one only has five lines.  The D.R.A.G.N.E.T. has well over five lines.  It was not bunched up.  It was spaced out just like this.  The dates match up to what I saw on the first document.

Q
Are you referring to the dates on this on Exhibit H matching up to the documents that you saw on June 29? 

A
No, the dates on the JANT Pharmacal, bottom of JANT Pharmacal matched up with --
Q
Exhibit G?

A
-- Exhibit G.


There is no explanation in the record of who originally drafted the statements in the “Carrier Official Statement” that Mattivi signed on July 16, but Cunningham’s signature appears on page 2 of Exhibit Q along with Mattivi’s.  There is no explanation as to the disparity between the account in the “Official Carrier Statement” that it was the JANT test reports that Mattivi 
showed to Cunningham on June 29 and Cunningham’s hearing testimony that he did not see the full JANT reports until Mattivi faxed them to him on June 30.  


Despite this disparity, the MHTC has shown by clear and satisfactory evidence that the bottom half of the JANT report contains false statements that Mattivi knowingly and intentionally placed there to fool any DOT inspector regarding RMC’s failure to comply with federal drug safety rules.  Further, the evidence is clear and satisfactory that Mattivi showed at least that portion of the JANT report to Cunningham either with the ChoicePoint heading, as Cunningham testified, or with the JANT heading as set forth in the “Carrier Official Statement.”  Under either scenario, the evidence is clear that on June 29 Mattivi presented test reports on Miller and Walker to Cunningham that contained false statements that Mattivi knowingly and intentionally placed in them.  
The MHTC has established the four elements of 49 CFR § 390.35(a) in regard to the test reports for Miller and Walker that Mattivi falsified.  RMC violated the regulation twice and thereby violated § 307.400 twice.  
RMC presents the same defense to Count II as to Count I.  We reject it for the same reasons as we rejected it in Count I.
Summary


RMC violated 49 CFR § 382.301(a) and violated § 307.400 twice by its violations of 49 CFR § 390.35(a). 

SO ORDERED on May 1, 2006.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN 


Commissioner
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	�Although Kerr is now the president of RMC, he was not a corporate officer in 2004.  He testified that he did the concrete work and that Mattivi was to take care of the office.  He alleged that Mattivi’s failures to pay creditors and her embezzlement of funds caused him to go bankrupt.  It appears that he was the owner of RMC, but this is never made explicit.  
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